THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jun 18 2021**

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
Timothy H. Pogue, Family Court Judge

---

**SC Court of Appeals**

Appellate Case No.: 2021-000030

---

Kathleen S. Carter.....Respondent,

v.

Joseph R. Carter.....Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Rebecca West  
HARLING & WEST, LLC  
Attorney for Appellant  
South Carolina Bar # 68405  
203 West Main Street, Suite B  
Post Office Box 2485  
Lexington, South Carolina 29071  
(t) (803) 957-0889

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant (“Husband”) appeals the family court’s Final Divorce Decree dividing the marital estate, awarding \$2,700.00 per month in alimony to Respondent (“Wife”) and requiring him to pay Wife’s attorney fees. Husband also appeals the family court’s order denying his motion for reconsideration.

Wife filed an action for separate maintenance and support on April 12, 2018, seeking alimony, equitable apportionment of the marital estate, an order prohibiting the parties from selling or disposing of marital assets pending a merits hearing and attorney fees. R. pp. 41-46. Husband responded seeking a divorce on the ground of continuous separation for one year, equitable apportionment of the marital estate and an award of attorney fees. R. pp. 47-49.

The first substantive order in the case came from Wife’s December 3, 2019, motion for temporary relief which occurred more than nineteen (19) months after the action was filed. R. pp. 35-40. Although Wife requested a merits hearing on September 12, 2019, the trial did not occur until June 15-16, 2020.<sup>1</sup>

Immediately before the merits hearing, the parties were able to settle the issues of their adult disabled daughter’s custody and support and they also agreed to place the marital home on the market for sale. R. pp. 3-5. After a two day trial, the family court granted the parties a divorce on the ground of continuous separation for one year. R. p. 30. The family court ruled in Wife’s favor on nearly all of the remaining issues. The marital home mortgage balance was valued at the date of trial rather than the date of filing. R. p. 15. Wife was awarded \$40,000.00 from Husband’s nonmarital retirement accounts. R. p. 17. The court accepted Wife’s opinion of

---

<sup>1</sup> The merits hearing was continued two times by no fault of the parties—once because the judge assigned to hear the case had a conflict and once due to the South Carolina Supreme Court’s moratorium on non-emergency proceedings during the COVID-19 pandemic.

value for nearly all of the remaining marital property and debt. R. p. 17. Wife was awarded monthly alimony of \$2,700.00 and \$10,000.00 in attorney fees. R. pp. 26-30.

Husband filed a motion for reconsideration on September 1, 2020. After a December 9, 2020, hearing, the family court denied Husband's motion and awarded Wife additional attorney fees of \$1,200.00. R. pp. 33-34.

On January 6, 2021, Husband filed a Notice of Appeal of the Final Divorce Decree and the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

This is a long-term marriage that ended when Wife left the parties' home in April 2018 without telling Husband she was leaving. R. p. 131, lines 3-5; p. 135, lines 13-15. According to Wife, the marriage permanently changed in 2009 when Husband's mood and temperament worsened after he suffered a traumatic head injury in an auto accident. R. p. 71, line 1-p.73, line 14. Neither party alleged a fault ground for divorce.

The parties' marriage was traditional in the sense that Husband worked outside the home and provided all of the family's financial support while Wife worked as a homemaker and cared for the parties' children. R. p. 56, line 14-p. 57, line 5. Three of the parties' four children, all of whom were adopted, emancipated in the years prior to Wife filing this case. R. p. 3. There was no dispute that the parties' twenty-two year old daughter suffered from bipolar disorder and required her parents' ongoing support. R. p. 50, line 18-p. 51, line 15; p. 65, lines 20-24. This marriage was Wife's second and Husband's third. R. p. 135, line 21-p. 136, line 11. At the time of trial, Wife was sixty-seven years old and Husband was sixty-five. R. p. 53, lines 9-11; p. 171, lines 19-24. Husband worked as a self-employed chiropractor prior to and throughout the marriage. R. p. 172, lines 10-22.

In the nineteen months between the filing of the case and the temporary hearing, Husband voluntarily paid Wife \$1,300.00 per month in spousal support along with various other expenses for Wife's benefit. R. p. 116, line 17-p. 118, line 20; pp. 757-779. Husband also continued to pay for Wife's health insurance, car insurance and cell phone through his business as he had done during the marriage. R. p. 200, line 23-p. 201, line 24.

The marital estate consisted of a home, an investment account, personal property, several bank accounts and two credit card debts. R. p. 296, p. 666. One of the significant issues at trial was the character of three additional retirement accounts in Husband's name which were fully funded from the rollover of two vested retirement plans that Husband acquired prior to the parties' marriage. R. p. 88, lines 15-18; p. 190, line 22-p. 195, line 13. Wife believed that these three retirement accounts were marital property. R. p. 88, lines 6-24.

Husband remained in the marital home after Wife filed this action and he paid the first mortgage and line of credit during the pendency of the action. R. p. 136, line 23-p. 138, line 11; p. 179, lines 9-14; p. 238, lines 4-24. Between the date of filing and the date of trial Husband reduced the first mortgage principal balance by \$45,243.19. R. p. 179, line 9-14; p. 180, lines 4-19; p. 671; p. 677. Wife did not contribute to the mortgage payments after the action was filed. R. p. 238, lines 12-18. The parties estimated that the net proceeds from the sale of the home would exceed \$250,000.00. R. p. 296; p. 666. In the months prior to the merits hearing Husband used money from the marital investment account to make repairs to the home in anticipation of listing it for sale. R. p. 243, lines 12-25.

Husband worked hard during the marriage supporting the parties' large family, and at age sixty-five, he admitted that he was not physically capable of working as hard as he did during the marriage. R. p. 170, line 8-p. 172, line 22. At the time of trial, Husband earned income of just

over \$58,000.00 per year. R. p. 173, line 2-p. 176, line 25. Given his age and health, Husband was concerned that he would be unable to pay alimony years into the future. R. p. 209, lines 2-19. Wife's income of \$18,535.00 per year was made up of her social security benefit and the child's disability benefit. R. p. 114, lines 12-21; pp. 736-741.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Decisions of the family court are subject to de novo review by an appellate court.<sup>2</sup> *Stoney v. Stoney*, 422 S.C. 593, 813 S.E.2d 486 (2018). De novo review is the broadest form of appellate review because it permits an appellate court to make findings of fact based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence “notwithstanding the presence of evidence supporting the trial court’s findings.” *Lewis v. Lewis*, 392 S.C. 381, 390, 709 S.E.2d 650, 654-655 (2011).

An appellant must persuade this court that the lower court committed error or that the preponderance of the evidence is against the trial court’s findings. *Tomlinson v. Melton*, 428 S.C. 607, 611-612, 837 S.E.2d 230, 232 (Ct. App. 2019). Though a trial judge is better situated to evaluate a witness’s credibility and assign “comparative weight” to the witness’s testimony, the appellate court’s authority to review the record de novo is not diminished. *Lewis v. Lewis*, 392 S.C. at 390, 709 S.E.2d at 654.

Most of the errors at trial were not a result of an inaccurate assessment of a witness’s credibility. Husband primarily takes issue with the trial court’s application of the law to the undisputed facts.

---

<sup>2</sup> An abuse of discretion standard is applied to the review of evidentiary and procedural rulings. *Stoney v. Stoney*, 422 S.C. 593, 813 S.E.2d 486, FN2 (2018). The Appellant is not seeking review of an evidentiary or procedural ruling.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE FAMILY COURT LACKED JURISDICTION TO DIVIDE HUSBAND'S NONMARITAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS.<sup>3</sup>

The family court erred when it awarded Wife \$40,000.00 from Husband's three nonmarital retirement accounts. R. p. 17.

Marital property is all real and personal property acquired by the parties during the marriage and owned by one of the parties on the date of filing; however, property acquired by either spouse prior to the marriage is generally nonmarital property and not subject to equitable division. S.C. Code Ann. §20-3-630(A)(2)(2014). Property retains its nonmarital character when it is exchanged for other property during the marriage provided it is not transmuted. S.C. Code Ann. §20-3-630(A)(3)(2014). Passive gain in the value of a nonmarital asset during the marriage does not change the nonmarital character of the asset. S.C. Code Ann. §20-3-630(A)(5)(2014). *Johnson v. Johnson*, 296 S.C. 289, 294, 372 S.E.2d 107, 110 (Ct.App.1988).

Once the family court determines that property is nonmarital it lacks jurisdiction and authority to apportion it. S.C. Code Ann. §20-3-630(B)(2014). *See also Bowen v. Bowen*, 327 S.C. 561, 566, 490 S.E.2d 271, 273 (Ct.App.1997) (family court was not permitted to address real estate excluded from the marital estate by a prenuptial agreement). It is error for a family court to include nonmarital property in the marital estate. *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 300 S.C. 1, 5, 386 S.E.2d 267, 269 (1989) *superseded in part by* S.C. Code Ann. 20-3-130(B)(1).

“A party claiming an equitable interest in property upon divorce bears the burden of proving the property is marital.” *McMillan v. McMillan*, 417 S.C. 583, 591, 790 S.E.2d 216, 220 (Ct.App.2016) (citation omitted). “If the party presents evidence to show that the property is

---

<sup>3</sup> The family court refers to these accounts in the Decree as the “contested Stifel Accounts ending 6209, 8368, 2494.” R. p. 15. Appellant refers to these accounts throughout the brief as “Stifel Accounts.” The Stifel Accounts are distinct and separate from the 2142 Account discussed in Section II (b).

marital, the burden shifts to the other spouse to present evidence to establish the property's nonmarital character." *Id.* "If the opposing spouse can show that the property was acquired before the marriage or falls within a statutory exception, this rebuts the prima facie case for its inclusion in the marital estate." *Id.* (citation omitted).

A party need not present documentary evidence at trial supporting the origin or value of property; rather, uncontradicted testimony will suffice to carry one's burden of proof. *Wilburn v. Wilburn*, 403 S.C. 372, 385-386, 743 S.E.2d 734, 741 (2013).

Prior to the parties' marriage, Husband acquired a vested interest in the CMI of Florence, Inc. Profit Sharing Plan & Trust ("Profit Sharing Plan") and the CMI of Florence, Inc. Money Purchase Pension Plan ("Pension"), both of which were a benefit provided to Husband and his employees by his chiropractic clinic. R. p. 192, line 7-p. 193, line 4; p. 252, lines 20-25. Husband testified that he contributed to these plans from 1983 through 1997. R. p. 252, lines 20-25. In 1997, approximately two years prior to marrying Wife, Husband determined that the cost to his chiropractic clinic of funding the Profit Sharing Plan, the Pension and group health insurance for himself and his employees was cost-prohibitive. R. p. 192, lines 7-21. Husband and his staff decided to terminate the Profit Sharing Plan and Pension in favor of maintaining group health insurance. R. p. 192, lines 7-19. The Profit Sharing Plan and Pension plans were terminated in 1997. R. p. 192, lines 7-21.

At trial, Husband placed into evidence Certificates for the Profit Sharing Plan and Pension showing his vested interests in the plans as of December 31, 1996, were valued at \$309,907.99 and \$219,619.17, respectively. R. p. 681; p. 194, lines 11-23. During discovery, Husband provided Wife with statements from the Profit Sharing Plan and Pension for 1994, 1995 and 1996 showing the value of the plans for several years immediately prior to the marriage.

R. p. 192, line 25- p. 193, line 4. Neither party was able to acquire statements from the Profit Sharing Plan or Pension reflecting the balance of the accounts on May 15, 1999, which was the date of the parties' marriage. R. p. 252, lines 3-9; p. 253, line 23-p. 254, line 16; p. 90, line 15-p. 91, line 9; p. 140, lines 2-14. Husband testified that some records burned in a fire and some records were no longer available from the administrator because they were too old. *Id.*

Husband rolled his Profit Sharing Plan and Pension plan assets to IRAs that ultimately came to be managed by a Stifel Nicolaus advisor. R. p. 193, line 5-p. 194, line 10. Prior to Husband moving the assets to Stifel in 2004, the investments were managed by an Edward Jones advisor. R. p. 193, line 19-p. 194, line 10. Husband was unable to produce documents tracing the flow of his Profit Sharing Plan and Pension plan assets to the Stifel Nicolaus IRAs because so much time had elapsed since the investments were rolled to Stifel Nicolaus. R. p. 262, line 20-p. 263, line 2. Husband and Wife stipulated that the total value of the three Stifel Accounts as of the date of filing was \$767,910.51 and the total value at the time of trial was \$757,058.96. R. p. 191, line 2-p. 192, line 2; p. 680.

Husband testified that he did not make any contributions to the Profit Sharing Plan, the Pension nor the successor accounts after the Profit Sharing Plan and Pension plans were terminated in 1997 nor did he make any contributions to the successor accounts during the marriage. R. p. 192, lines 22-24; p. 195, lines 11-13; p. 253, lines 23-25. Wife did not present testimony or documents showing that the parties contributed to the Profit Sharing Plan and Pension during the marriage. R. p. 88, line 6-p. 92, line 1; p. 139, line 20-p. 140, line 22. Wife offered no evidence contradicting Husband's testimony that he made no contributions to the Profit Sharing Plan, the Pension nor the Stifel Accounts during the marriage. R. p. 88, line 6-p.91, line 20; p. 140, lines 2-14.

On cross-examination, Wife's attorney pressed Husband to prove that he did not contribute to the Profit Sharing Plan and Pension during the marriage. R. p. 253, line 23-p. 254, line 18. Husband speculated that the parties' joint tax filings from early in the marriage would show that he made no retirement contributions, but the tax records were lost in a fire. R. p. 253, line 23-p. 254, line 18; p. 140, lines 15-22.

Wife argued at trial that the Stifel Accounts were marital property. R. p. 88, lines 15-24. Wife's belief was based solely on statements she claimed Husband made to her during the marriage. R. p. 88, line 6- p. 90, line 8. Wife testified that she and Husband discussed eventually moving to a local retirement community when husband semi-retired or retired. R. p. 88, line 21-p. 89, line 14. Based on these conversations, Wife assumed that Husband was saving money for retirement during their marriage, but she testified to this only after her attorney prompted this response during direct examination. R. p. 89, line 15-p. 90, line 8. Wife felt that any money Husband was saving for retirement would have been placed in his Stifel Accounts, but she acknowledged this was merely her opinion. R. p. 90, lines 1-5. Husband had no recollection of telling Wife that he planned to use his nonmarital Stifel Accounts to fund a move to a local retirement community. R. p. 194, line 25-p. 195, line 13. Wife recalled and confirmed that Husband's clinic terminated the Profit Sharing Plan and Pension in favor of health insurance for employees. R. p. 140, lines 5-14. Wife also remembered that the Profit Sharing Plan and Pension, when it terminated, would "roll over." R. p. 140, lines 5-14.

Wife, as the party claiming an equitable interest in the Stifel Accounts, bears the burden of proving that the accounts are marital property. *Taylor-Cracraft v. Cracraft*, 417 S.C. 570, 576, 790 S.E.2d 423, 426 (Ct.App.2016). The parties stipulated that the Stifel Accounts existed on the date of filing, April 12, 2018. R. p. 190, line 22-p. 192, line 2; p. 680. With it being

established that the Stifel Accounts were created during the marriage and that they existed on the date of filing, the burden shifts to Husband to prove that the Stifel Accounts, and the passive gain on the accounts during the marriage, are not marital property. *Wilburn v. Wilburn*, 403 S.C. 372, 383, 743 S.E. 2d 734, 740 (2013). At trial, Husband testified that the Stifel Accounts were acquired in exchange for the Profit Sharing Plan and Pension which were created prior to his marriage to Wife. R. p. 193, line 22-p. 195, line 13. Husband also testified that the value of the Stifel Accounts grew passively during the marriage and growth was not due to any direct contribution made during the marriage. R. p. 192, lines 22-24; p. 195, lines 11-13; p. 253, lines 23-25. Wife did not offer testimony or other evidence showing that contributions were made to the accounts during the parties' marriage. R. p. 88, line 6- p. 91, line 13; p. 139, line 20-p. 140, line 22. Wife never alleged that the Stifel Accounts, nor the predecessor Profit Sharing Plan, Pension or Edward Jones accounts were ever titled to her.

Husband, on the other hand, presented several types of evidence to support his position and rebut the presumption that the Stifel Accounts were marital. In addition to testifying about the nature of the Profit Sharing Plan, Pension and the Stifel Accounts, the value of the Profit Sharing Plan, Pension and Stifel Accounts, the absence of contribution to any of the accounts during the marriage and the tracing of all of the accounts, Husband presented the December 31, 1996, statements from the Profit Sharing Plan and Pension plans which reflected the value of the accounts immediately prior to their termination in 1997. R. p. 680. Husband also presented the Stifel Account values as of the date of filing and the date of trial and Wife stipulated to both values. R. p. 190, line 22-p. 192, line 2; p. 680.

At trial, Wife’s position that the Stifel Accounts were marital in nature was based solely on her belief that Husband’s testimony and the documents he placed in evidence were not sufficient to carry his burden and rebut the presumption.<sup>4</sup> R. p. 272, line 6-p. 273, line 1; pp. 33-34. The trial court stated, “It is also odd that the [Husband] presented no documentary evidence to confirm his assertion that he did not make any contributions to these accounts during this nineteen (19) year marriage.” R. p. 33-34. The trial court ultimately held that a “portion of these accounts are marital in nature.” *Id.*

Appellate courts have held, however, that undisputed testimony from a spouse is sufficient to rebut the presumption.

In *Chanko v. Chanko*, husband argued that a portion of his Fluor Daniel 401k was his nonmarital property because he worked for the company for seven years prior to the marriage. *Chanko v. Chanko*, 327 S.C. 636, 640-643, 490 S.E.2d 630, 633 (Ct.App.1997). Husband testified that the 401k was worth approximately \$75,000 at the time the parties married and he testified that he had statements supporting this value, but he did not bring the statements with him to trial. *Chanko v. Chanko*, 327 S.C. at 641-642, 490 S.E.2d at 633. Wife’s counsel objected to husband testifying to the value of the account prior to the marriage because husband was a lay witness, not an expert. *Id.* at 641. The trial judge overruled the objection and indicated

---

<sup>4</sup> Wife did not argue at trial that the Stifel Accounts were marital assets because they were transmuted:

“THE COURT: So I would like you-all to be prepared to give a brief closing statement at the end as far as setting out...what you feel this Court needs to especially pay attention to and also the equitable division. In particular, needless to say, the biggest asset is—there’s a contest over if it’s martial [sic] or nonmarital. I didn’t hear any testimony, Mr. Barth. Are you alleging that even if there’s been no contribution that that should be transmuted or what—or not? I haven’t heard any testimony as far as transmutation is concerned.

WIFE’S COUNSEL: I do not believe we’ve asserted a claim for transmutation, Your Honor. The—the issue is whether or not there were contributions during the marriage to contribute towards the increase in values.”

R. p. 204, line 22-p. 205, line 12; *see also* R. p. 88, line 21-p. 90, line 8.

that he would weigh the evidence appropriately. *Id.* The Court of Appeals acknowledged that husband's testimony was vague and that expert or documentary evidence would have been more compelling, but nevertheless held that Husband carried his burden of proving that \$75,000.00 of his Fluor Daniel 401k was his nonmarital property because wife offered no evidence of transmutation of the portion of the account that husband earned prior to the marriage nor did wife dispute the value husband assigned to the premarital portion of the account. *Chanko v. Chanko*, 327 S.C. at 641-642, 490 S.E.2d at 633.

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