**RECEIVED**

**Jul 01 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
Family Court**

**Timothy H. Pogue, Family Court Judge**

---

**APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000030**

---

Kathleen S. Carter..... Respondent,

v.

Joseph R. Carter,..... Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**Marian D. Nettles, Esquire  
NETTLES, TURBEVILLE &  
REDDECK  
PO Box 699/261 Kelley Street  
Lake City, South Carolina 29560  
843-374-8511/843-493-2221  
Fax: 843-374-3211  
missy@ntrlaw.com  
Bar # 4197**

**Brendan P. Barth, Esquire  
BARTH BALLENGER & LEWIS, L.L.P  
Post Office Box 107

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

Tr. P. 253 lines 23-25) The Husband did not indicate what losses might have occurred in these plans between the termination of the plans in 1997, during the period he managed the funds himself. He testified that he believed these three accounts were non-marital . (R. p.194 line 15- p.195 line 5) The Wife testified that the Husband was in charge of their retirement plans and that they often had discussions about their plans to move to The Methodist Manor, a local retirement community. Based upon their discussions, she understood that they were contributing toward the three accounts. (R. p. 88 lines 21- p.89 line 25.) The record contains no documentation as to the value of the accounts on the date of marriage. (Final Divorce Decree p.16 paragraph 33 R. p. 16) The Wife testified that despite the issuance of a subpoena she was unable to obtain account statements during the marriage. (R. p. 90 line 15- p. 91 line 9) The account statements would certainly have shown whether or not any contributions were made during the term of marriage. The Wife accepts that the three Stifel Nicholas accounts do contain proceeds of the pre-marital retirement accounts of the Husband. However, her understanding was that marital money/income was deposited into and contributed to these (3) Stifel accounts during the parties' long term marriage and that those contributions are marital in nature. (R. p. 88 line 6- p. 89 line 21) Despite the Husband's inability to trace his pre-marital retirement accounts to the three Stifel Nicholas accounts, the Court found that the accounts were originally non-marital , but that any contribution made during the marriage would be marital. (Decree R. p. 16 paragraph 34- p.17). The Court noted in its Order denying Defendant's Motion to Alter or Amend judgement and/or Motion for Reconsideration that "The Court was swayed by the Plaintiff's testimony that during the marriage she was assured by the Defendant that the parties were

depositing and contributing marital money/income into those three (3) Stifel Accounts.” (Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to Alter or Amend Judgement and/or Motion for Reconsideration R. p. 33) Furthermore, the Court concluded that “the Defendant presented no documentary evidence to confirm his assertion that he did not make any contributions to these accounts during this nineteen (19) year marriage. Also the Court noted that although this litigation went on for over two (2) years and that the documents be claimed would support his position were burned and destroyed in a fire shortly before the case went to trial. (R. p. 33-34). The Court awarded \$40,000.00 of the \$227,531.80 increase in value from the inception of the Husband’s plan to the trial value of the account to the Wife. (Final Decree p. 17 paragraph 35)

The Husband claims that the Wife has failed to meet her burden of proof that any portion of the three Stifel accounts was marital. (R. p. 190 line 22- p. 192 line 2 Defendant’s Exhibit 9 R. p. 680.) The Husband testified that the Stifel accounts were opened during the term of the marriage in 2004, 2005, or 2006. (R. p. 193 lines 5- p. 194 line 12 Defendant’s Exhibit #10 R. p. 681). The Husband testified that he had not made any contributions towards the Stifel accounts since they were established or to the predecessor retirement accounts since they were terminated in 1997 prior to the marriage of the parties. (R. p. 192 line 8- p. 194 line 14)

A party claiming an equitable interest in property upon divorce hears the burden of proof that the property is marital. *Wilburn v. Wilburn* 403 SC 372, 743 SE2d 734 (2013) The Wife testified as to the conversations the parties had about saving for retirement. The Court believed the Wife’s testimony. (Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to Alter or

Amended p. 1 paragraph 1 R. p. 33-34) The Wife met her burden of proof. The three accounts were established during the term of the marriage and were in existence on the date of filing. The burden then shifts to the Husband to prove his contention that no portion of the accounts is marital. The Husband's proof consisted of his testimony that he did not recall having the conversations with the Wife about contributing towards the retirement accounts. (R. p. 195 lines 6-10 ) He presented no documentary evidence. Basically it was a he said she said proposition. The Court believed the Wife and expressed concerns about the Husband's failure to provide the documentation in support of his position. ( Order denying Defendant's Motion to Alter or Amend filed December 18, 2020, R. p. 33)

The Court stated in the Final Decree of Divorce that the Defendant acknowledged that this case was originally scheduled to be tried in March 20, 2020, but testified that his records were destroyed by fire in May 2020, a few weeks before the trial (R. p. 16) Due to the hotly contested nature of this claim, it does seem suspicious that the documents the Husband claimed he had which would have allegedly supported his position, would not have been in the possession of his attorney long before May 2020, and disclosed when subpoenas were issued by opposing counsel attempting to gain possession of this information.

In *Roberts v. Roberts* 299 SC 315, 384 SE 2d 719 (1989) the Court noted that the party who carries the burden of proof, sometimes referred to as the burden of persuasion, or the burden of evidence, on a given issue is the party having the risk of non-persuasion and is the one upon whom falls the duty of going forward with the evidence on the issue. Husband had the burden of proof because he sought to show that accounts opened during the marriage fit within a statutory exception and were therefore non-marital.

## II. The Family Court did not err in valuing certain asset and debts

The Husband challenges the decision of the Court regarding the dates on which certain assets and debts were valued. The general rule is that marital assets and debts are valued as of the date of filing of marital litigation. *S.C. Code Ann §20-3-630 (A)* However, the Court in *Moore v. Moore* 414 SC 490, 779 SE2d 533 (2015) held that “certain circumstances” may justify using a trial date value. The burden of proof for use of the trial date value is on the party seeking deviation from the statutory filing date. *Burch v. Burch* 395SC 318, 717 SE2d 757 (2011). In *Burch* the Court noted that the use of the filing date value may not necessarily result in a fair outcome if the value changes during the pendency of the action.

### (A) Mortgage debt on the marital home.

The Court valued the mortgage debt on the marital home as of the date of trial. (Final Divorce Decree R. p. 15) The Husband paid the mortgage payments on the home during the pendency of the action. (R. p. 136 lines 19- p.137 line 10, p. 183 lines 5-22, R p. 238 lines 1-24 and Temporary Order p. 2 paragraph 6 (a) R. p. 36) He also had exclusive possession of the home during the pendency of this action. (Temporary Order p. 2 paragraph 6 (a) R.p.36). He failed to place the home on the market as agreed in Mediation. (See Plaintiffs’s Exhibit 12 .) (Tr. p. 262 lines 9-16)

Husband cites the cases of *McDavid v. McDavid* 333 SC 490, 511 SE2d 365 (1999) and *Burch v. Burch* 395 SC 318, 717 SE2d 757 (2011) as authority for the proposition that under an active appreciation/passive appreciation analysis the Husband’s request for credit for the reduction in the principle balance during the pendency of the action should be

granted. The case of *Barrow v. Barrow* 394 SC 603, 716 SE2d 302 (Ct. App. 2011) is authority for the proposition that the active versus passive analysis is not the sole criterion for justifying a deviation from the filing date valuation. In *Barrow*, the Court found that the Husband was not entitled to a credit for mortgage payments he made post separation. The Court considered that each party had housing expenses post separation. In this case the Court concluded that, "These were the parties' living expenses post-separation and do not entitle Husband to any special credit". The Trial Court stated in paragraph 27 of the Decree(R.p. 27):

The Court does not "agree" with the Defendant's position. As stated above, and testified to numerous times by the parties at trial, the Defendant was the breadwinner and sole financial provider for this family. This was the *status quo*. This is what the parties had agreed to at the temporary hearing in December of 2019. This is what the parties "agreed" to from the time of their separation in 2018. The parties operated under this "agreement" and understanding for over one and a half years before ever scheduling the temporary hearing. This is what has been the *status quo* for all of the years of the parties' marriage. In its Temporary Order, the Court noted in paragraph eight (8) on page four (4) that his case has been pending way too long and is not that complicated, but that, in any event, the purpose of a temporary order is to maintain the *status quo* between the parties. If the Defendant had not been living in the marital home during the pendency of this action, he would have had to pay rent somewhere else for which he would have received no equity. Therefore, the Court is rejecting the Defendant's request that he receive \$45,000.00 out of the net proceeds of the sale of the marital residence. The Court does not believe that the Defendant receiving the same would be fair or equitable. (Final Divorce Decree p.14 paragraph 27)

The Husband acknowledges the concept that "The doctrine of equitable distribution is based on a recognition that marriage is, among other things, an economic partnership." citing *Bodkin v. Bodkin* 388 SC 203 694 SE2d 230 (Ct. App. 2010) (Final Brief of Appellant p. 20) Furthermore, it is acknowledged that Courts protect a homemaker's interest by

considering and assigning a value to the indirect contributions to a marriage from caring for the parties' home which enables the other spouse to work outside the home and accumulate wealth for the parties' mutual benefit. *Johnson v. Johnson* 296 SC 289, 372 SE2d 107 (Ct. App 1988). (Final Brief of Appellant, p. 20) Husband argues that the Wife's services as homemaker ended at the time of separation. (Final Brief of Appellant p. 21). In this particular case this is not true. By Agreement of the parties entered into the record:

a. The parties agreed that their daughter, namely E.A.C., born XX/XX/1998, known as "ZZ", remains incapacitated at this time by virtue of her diagnosed disabilities and that said disabilities prevent her from financially providing for herself. As such, ZZ shall continue to reside with the Plaintiff, who was previously appointed by the Probate Court ZZ's Conservator/Guardian, and the Plaintiff shall continue to receive ZZ's SSI check to be utilized towards ZZ's support. ( Final Decree of Divorce R. p.4 paragraph A.)

The Wife was never the breadwinner during the marriage by agreement of the parties. She did not have the money to contribute toward the mortgage debt. Her contribution to the care of their incapacitated daughter did not end on the date of separation. But for the Wife's continued contributions to the adult child's care, the Husband would not have been able to continue to fulfill his role as breadwinner either before or after the marriage. Wife's full time care of the adult disabled daughter prevented her from contributing cash toward the payment of the mortgage. However, her services were in fact valuable to the parties. She deserves credit for her indirect contributions which enabled the Husband to continue to reduce the mortgage debt during the pendency of this action.

(B) Stifel Account #2412.

The Court was justified in using the date of filing value for Stifel account #2412. After the Judge ordered the Husband to pay \$5,000.00 in Temporary Attorneys Fees to the Wife at the Temporary Hearing, the Husband testified that he withdrew \$40,000 from this account. (Tr. P. 152 line 18-p.153 line 13). He concedes that this account was marital. (Tr. P. 152 lines 18-21) The Temporary Order provided that:

Each of the parties shall be restrained and enjoined from disposing of, placing liens upon, hiding, injuring, selling, alienating, liquidating, or otherwise decreasing, in value any assets, pending a final hearing on the merits, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise in writing. (Temporary Order filed January 15, 2020 p. 3 paragraph H. R. p. 37)

To use the trial date for valuing this account would amount to rewarding the Husband for willfully violating the Temporary Order. The Courts have consistently held parties chargeable where there is willful misconduct concerning dissipation of marital assets. *McDavid v. McDavid* 333 SC 490, 511 SE2d 365 (1999) and *Dixon v. Dixon* 334 SC 222, 512 SE2d 539 (Ct. App. 1999).

The Husband withdrew these funds from a marital account in direct violation of the Temporary Order, at his own risk. (Final Divorce Decree R. p. 18-19 paragraph 41)

(C) IHG Credit Card

In his motion for reconsideration, the Husband concedes that a debt incurred after filing but before the divorce can be considered a marital debt. The test is whether the charges were incurred for marital purposes. *Wooten v. Wooten* 364 SC 532, 615 SE2d 98 (2005). The balance on the IHG occurred during the pendency of this action. (R. p. 146 line 16- p.

147 line 2.) The Wife testified that the parties agreed that she would continue to utilize this card for charges for the psychologist for ZZ, trips to visit the other children, gas, and food. (R. p. 146 line 16- p. 148 line 19). The parties operated by agreement concerning the IHC credit card. The Husband initially paid \$500.00 on this account for a period of time after the separation and before the Temporary Hearing, then paid less and finally quit making payment prior to the temporary hearing. The husband would make payments and the Wife would get a text alert when he made the payments. (R. p. 156 line 24- p. 130 line 23.) During the marriage the Husband typically paid \$500.00 on this account per month. (R. p. 147 lines 3-9)

Based upon the foregoing, the Husband does not deny that prior to the Temporary Hearing he was aware of this account and that he made payments on this account. But for his doing so, the parties would have had a Temporary Hearing earlier. The Temporary Order continued the \$500.00 per month payment arrangement on this account (Temporary Order filed January 15, 2020 R. p. 39 paragraph 11 and p. 40 paragraph 4.) The Court found as a fact in the Decree that:

47. As to the IHG Credit Card, the Court finds that the current balance on the IHG Credit Card is marital in nature. Although the Defendant testified that this card had a balance of zero at the time of filing, there was ample testimony and evidence at trial that the Plaintiff continued to utilize this card during the pendency of this case in a similar manner to how the parties had always utilized this card- including for medical bills and gas. There was also evidence and testimony that the parties had agreed during this case that the Plaintiff could utilize this card for certain charges and expenses during the pendency of this action. Taking all of this evidence and testimony into consideration, the Court finds that the current balance of \$6,120.00 is a marital debt. Per the attached worksheet, the Defendant shall be solely responsible for paying this debt, and he shall hold the Plaintiff harmless as to the same. Once the Defendant pays off the balance of this IHG card, the parties shall work together to remove the Defendant's name from this credit card or, in the event his name cannot be removed, cancel and

close the account. (R. p. 20 paragraph 47)

**III. The values of the Wife's vehicle and jewelry were supported by the record.**

The Family Court is tasked with the responsibility of identifying the marital property and determining its fair market value when making an equitable division of marital property. *Cannon v. Cannon* 321 SC 44, 467 SE2d 132 ( Ct. App. 1996). The Court's valuation will be affirmed on appeal if the valuation is within the range of values presented by the parties. *Woodward v. Woodward* 294 SC 210, 363 SE2d 413 ( Ct App 1987). When a party is knowledgeable about the property, realistic in his opinion of value and is credible, a party's own opinion of value is sufficient to support a finding by the Court. *Nelson v. Nelson* 428 SC 15, 833 SE2d 432 ( Ct App 2019)

**A. Toyota Land Cruiser.**

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